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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014
(In thousands, except share data)
July 31, 2015
Assets

April 30, 2015

July 31, 2014

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

4,418

$

21,387

$

8,649

Receivables:
Accounts receivable

33,460

46,121

30,737

Notes receivable - current

35,214

24,465

32,861

1,934

1,033

1,394

(6,208)

(5,692)

(5,684)
59,308

Interest receivable, net of uncollectible amounts
Allowance for doubtful accounts - current

64,400

65,927

Assets held for sale

Total current receivables, net

6,357

5,160

5,425

Income taxes receivable

7,901

—

10,946

Deferred income tax asset

6,773

6,921

3,636

Other current assets

2,552

6,470

3,058

92,401

105,865

91,022

Property, equipment, and software, net of accumulated depreciation of $17,665, $18,951 and $23,763,
respectively

37,937

36,232

38,866

Notes receivable, non-current

23,079

22,416

16,996

(1,933)

(1,663)

(1,421)

21,146

20,753

15,575

Total current assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts, non-current
Total notes receivables, non-current, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets

3,283

3,377

3,009

13,339

14,672

12,786

3,220
$

Total assets

3,247

171,326

$

1,958

$

2,207

184,146

$

163,465

3,934

$

3,042

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current installments of long-term debt

$

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to area developers ("ADs")
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue - current
Total current liabilities

16,819

17,321

8,963

9,403

24,340

9,207

187

2,147

—

5,585

6,076

6,796

33,952

53,818

28,008

Long-term debt, excluding current installments

20,858

21,463

21,103

Revolving credit facility

16,556

—

13,822

Deferred revenue - non-current

8,964

7,640

8,097

Deferred income tax liability

3,673

2,363

4,657

84,003

85,284

75,687

—

—

—

119

119

118

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Special voting preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share, 10 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 21,200,000 shares authorized, 11,876,581,
11,905,156 and 11,812,069 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 900,000 shares
issued and outstanding

9

9

9

10

10

10

4,049

4,082

6,590

Exchangeable shares, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes

(1,455)

Retained earnings

84,591

Total stockholders’ equity

(697)

87,323
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

171,326

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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184

95,339

80,867

98,862
$

184,146

87,778
$

163,465

LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Three Months Ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 (unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share data)
Three Months Ended July 31,
2015

Revenue:
Franchise fees
AD fees
Royalties and advertising fees
Financial products
Interest income
Tax preparation fees, net of discounts
Other revenue

$

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Employee compensation and benefits
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
AD expense
Advertising expense
Depreciation, amortization, and impairment charges
Total operating expenses

2014

608
1,604
1,745
308
2,006
623
629

$

704
1,825
1,694
457
2,194
515
450

7,523

7,839

8,633
7,759
726
2,609
1,670

8,415
7,525
741
2,882
2,299

21,397

21,862

Loss from operations
Other expense:
Foreign currency transaction loss
Interest expense

(13,874)

(14,023)

(25)
(401)

(1)
(301)

Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

(14,300)
(5,764)

(14,325)
(5,681)

Net loss

$

(8,536)

$

(8,644)

$

(0.67)

$

(0.67)

Net loss per share of Class A and Class B common stock:
Basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding basic and diluted

12,811,621

Dividends declared per share of common stock and common stock equivalents

$

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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0.16

12,867,273
$

—

LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Three Months Ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 (unaudited)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended July 31,
2015

2014

Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment

$

(8,536)
(758)

$

(8,644)
118

Comprehensive loss

$

(9,294)

$

(8,526)

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 (unaudited)
(In thousands)

2015

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Provision for doubtful accounts
Depreciation, amortization, and impairment charges
Stock-based compensation expense
Gain on bargain purchases and sales of Company-owned offices
Deferred tax expense
Changes in accrued income taxes
Changes in other assets and liabilities

$

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Issuance of operating loans to franchisees
Payments received on operating loans to franchisees
Purchases of AD rights and Company-owned offices
Proceeds from sale of Company-owned offices and AD rights
Purchases of property, equipment and software

2014

(8,536)

$

(8,644)

1,701
1,670
465
(117)
1,458
(9,860)
(2,241)

1,456
2,299
687
(95)
2,034
(20,622)
142

(15,460)

(22,743)

(12,333)
654
(336)
2,239
(2,686)

(8,505)
1,325
(128)
643
(2,814)

Net cash used in investing activities

(12,462)

(9,479)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Repurchase of common stock
Dividends paid
Repayment of amounts due to former ADs
Repayment of other long-term debt
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Repayments under revolving credit facility
Tax benefit of stock option exercises

279
(1,272)
(2,212)
(2,318)
(282)
16,556
—
495

4,543
(22,620)
—
(3,840)
(641)
13,849
(27)
3,509

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, net

11,246
(293)

(5,227)
18

(16,969)
21,387

(37,431)
46,080

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
$

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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4,418

$

8,649

LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 (unaudited)
(In thousands)
2015

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest of $66 and $40, respectively
Cash paid for taxes, net of refunds
Accrued capitalized software costs included in accounts payable
During the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company acquired certain assets from franchisees
and ADs as follows:
Fair value of assets purchased
Receivables applied, net of amounts due ADs and related deferred revenue
Bargain purchase gains
Notes and accounts payable issued
Cash paid to franchisees and ADs
During the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company sold certain assets to franchisees and
ADs as follows:
Book value of assets sold
Gain on sale-revenue deferred
Loss on sale - loss recognized
Notes received
Cash received from franchisees and ADs
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2014

$

251
2,144
281

$

231
9,398
267

$

2,134
(1,731)
(24)
(43)

$

1,968
(1,714)
(9)
(117)

$

336

$

$

1,683
1,679
(28)
(1,095)

$

$

2,239

$

128

1,773
314
—
(1,444)
643

LIBERTY TAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
July 31, 2015 and 2014 (Unaudited)
(1) Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
Liberty Tax, Inc. (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, is a holding company engaged through its subsidiaries as a franchisor and, to a lesser
degree, an operator of a system of income tax preparation offices located in the United States and Canada. The Company's principal operations are conducted
through JTH Tax, Inc. (d/b/a Liberty Tax Service), the Company's largest subsidiary. Through this system of income tax preparation offices, the Company
also facilitates refund-based tax settlement financial products, such as refund transfer products in the United States and personal income tax refund
discounting in Canada. The Company also offers online tax preparation services. Effective July 15, 2014, the Company changed its name from JTH Holding,
Inc. to Liberty Tax, Inc.
The Company provides a substantial amount of lending to its franchisees and ADs. The Company allows franchisees and ADs to defer a portion of
the franchise fee and AD fee, which are paid over time. The Company also offers its franchisees working capital loans to fund their operations between tax
seasons.
The Company’s operating revenues are seasonal in nature, with peak revenues occurring in the months of January through April. Therefore, results
for interim periods are not indicative of results to be expected for the full year.
Unless the context requires otherwise, the terms "Liberty Tax," "Liberty Tax Service," "we," "the Company," "us," and "our" refer to Liberty Tax, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Basis of Presentation
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Liberty Tax, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Assets and liabilities
of the Company's Canadian operations have been translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at the end of the period. Revenues and
expenses have been translated using the average exchange rates in effect each month of the period. Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are
recognized when incurred. The Company consolidates any entities in which it has a controlling interest, the usual condition of which is ownership of a
majority voting interest. The Company also considers for consolidation an entity in which the Company has certain interests where a controlling financial
interest may be achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests. Such an entity, known as a variable interest entity ("VIE"), is required to
be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The Company does not possess any ownership interests in franchisee entities; however, the Company may
provide financial support to franchisee entities. Because the Company's franchise arrangements provide franchisee entities the power to direct the activities
that most significantly impact their economic performance, the Company does not consider itself the primary beneficiary of any such entity that might be a
VIE. Based on the results of management's analysis of potential VIEs, the Company has not consolidated any franchisee entities. The Company's maximum
exposure to loss resulting from involvement with potential VIEs is attributable to accounts and notes receivables and future lease payments due from
franchisees. When the Company does not have a controlling interest in an entity but exerts significant influence over the entity, the Company applies the
equity method of accounting. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
("GAAP") for interim financial information. The condensed consolidated financial statements, including these notes, are unaudited and exclude some of the
disclosures only required in annual financial statements. Consolidated balance sheet data as of April 30, 2015 was derived from the Company’s April 30,
2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on July 1, 2015.
In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such financial statements in accordance with GAAP have been
recorded. These adjustments consisted only of normal recurring items. The accompanying consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction
with the Company’s financial statements and notes thereto included in its April 30, 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on July 1, 2015.
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Office Count
The Company will report this information for the quarter ended January 31, 2016 once all offices have been opened.
Use of Estimates
Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period,
to prepare these condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in conformity with GAAP. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
Accounting Pronouncements
There have been no significant changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies as described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 as filed on July 1, 2015.
Foreign Operations
Canadian operations contributed $1.0 million and $0.8 million in revenues for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
(2) Accounts and Notes Receivable
The Company provides financing to franchisees and ADs for the purchase of franchises, areas, Company-owned offices, and operating loans for
working capital and equipment needs. The franchise-related notes generally are payable over five years and the operating loans generally are due within
one year. Most notes bear interest at 12%.
Notes and interest receivable, net of unrecognized revenue, as of July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014 are presented in the consolidated
balance sheets as follows:
July 31, 2015

April 30, 2015

July 31, 2014

(In thousands)

Notes receivable - current
Notes receivable - non-current
Interest, net of uncollectible amounts
Total notes and interest receivable, net

$

35,214
23,079
1,934

$

24,465
22,416
1,033

$

32,861
16,996
1,394

$

60,227

$

47,914

$

51,251

Most of the notes receivable are due from the Company's franchisees and ADs and are collateralized by the underlying franchise and, when the
franchise or AD is an entity, are guaranteed by the owners of the respective entity. The debtors' ability to repay the notes is dependent upon both the
performance of the tax preparation industry as a whole and the individual franchisees' or ADs' areas.
Accounts and notes receivable include royalties billed that relate to territories operated by franchisees located in AD territories and a portion of
those accounts and notes are payable to the AD. The Company has recorded amounts payable to ADs for their share of these receivables of $9.4 million,
$24.3 million, and $9.2 million at July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014, respectively.
Unrecognized revenue relates to the financed portion of franchise fees and AD fees and, in the case of sales of Company-owned offices, the financed
portion of gains related to these sales in each case where revenue has not yet been recognized. For franchise fees and gains related to the sale of Companyowned offices, revenue is recognized as note payments are received by the Company. Payments received on AD fee notes receivable generate a corresponding
increase in deferred revenue, which is amortized into revenue over the life of the AD contract, historically ten years. The Company recently changed the term
of new and renewal AD contracts to six years from ten years and the revenue for these contracts will be
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recognized over that period, subject to the receipt of cash. Unrecognized revenue was $38.7 million, $38.6 million and $39.1 million at July 31, 2015, April
30, 2015 and July 31, 2014, respectively.
At July 31, 2015, the Company had unfunded lending commitments for working capital loans to franchisees and area developers of $23.7 million.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts is assessed on a quarterly basis and adjusted as deemed necessary. Management believes the
recorded allowance is adequate based upon its consideration of the estimated value of the franchises and AD areas supporting the receivables. Any adverse
change in the tax preparation industry or the individual franchisees' or ADs' areas could affect the Company's estimate of the allowance.
Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 was as follows:
Three Months Ended
2015

2014
(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period
Provision for doubtful accounts
Write-offs
Foreign currency adjustment

$

7,355
1,701
(829)
(86)

$

6,850
1,456
(1,212)
11

Balance at end of period

$

8,141

$

7,105

Management considers specific accounts and notes receivable to be impaired if the net amounts due exceed the fair value of the underlying
franchise at the time of the annual valuation performed as of April 30 of each year, and estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based on that excess.
While not specifically identifiable as of the balance sheet date, the Company's experience also indicates that a portion of other accounts and notes receivable
are also impaired, because management does not expect to collect all principal and interest due under the current contractual terms. Net amounts due include
contractually obligated accounts and notes receivable plus accrued interest, reduced by unrecognized revenue, the allowance for uncollected interest,
amounts due ADs, and amounts owed to the franchisee by the Company. In establishing the fair value of the underlying franchise, management considers
recent sales between franchisees, net fees of open offices earned during the most recently completed tax season, and the number of unopened offices.
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The allowance for doubtful accounts at July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014, was allocated as follows:
July 31, 2015

April 30, 2015

July 31, 2014

(In thousands)

Impaired:
Notes and interest receivable, net of unrecognized revenue
Accounts receivable
Less amounts due to ADs and franchisees

$

10,633
6,699
(1,304)

$

10,921
7,634
(1,535)

$

$

16,028

$

17,020

$

10,823

$

6,616

$

6,594

$

5,425

$

49,594
26,761
(8,795)

$

36,993
38,487
(25,150)

$

44,187
26,159
(9,244)

$

67,560

$

50,330

$

61,102

$

1,525

$

761

$

1,680

$

60,227
33,460
(10,099)

$

47,914
46,121
(26,685)

$

51,251
30,737
(10,063)

Amounts receivable less amounts due to ADs and franchisees

$

83,588

$

67,350

$

71,925

Total allowance for doubtful accounts

$

8,141

$

7,355

$

7,105

Amounts receivable less amounts due to ADs and franchisees
Allowance for doubtful accounts for impaired notes and accounts receivable
Non-impaired:
Notes and interest receivable,net of unrecognized revenue
Accounts receivable
Less amounts due to ADs and franchisees
Amounts receivable less amounts due to ADs and franchisees
Allowance for doubtful accounts for non-impaired notes and accounts receivable
Total:
Notes and interest receivable, net of unrecognized revenue
Accounts receivable
Less amounts due to ADs and franchisees

7,064
4,578
(819)

The Company’s average investment in impaired notes receivable during the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 was $10.8 million and $7.8
million, respectively.
Analysis of Past Due Receivables
The breakdown of accounts and notes receivable past due at July 31, 2015 was as follows:
Allowance
for uncollectible
interest

Past due

Total
receivables

Current

(In thousands)

Accounts receivable
Notes and interest receivable, net of unrecognized revenue
Total accounts, notes and interest receivable

$

32,315
9,713

$

(1,134)
(1,242)

$

2,279
51,756

$

33,460
60,227

$

42,028

$

(2,376)

$

54,035

$

93,687

Accounts receivable are considered to be past due if unpaid 30 days after billing and notes receivable are considered past due if unpaid after 90 days
after the due date, at which time the notes are put on nonaccrual status. The Company’s investment in notes receivable on nonaccrual status was $8.5 million,
$9.3 million,and $8.4 million at July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015, and July 31, 2014, respectively. Payments received on notes in nonaccrual status are applied
to interest income first until the note is current and then to the principal note balance. Nonaccrual notes that are paid current and expected to remain current
are moved back into accrual status during the next annual review.
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(3) Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

July 31, 2015

July 31, 2014

(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period
Acquisitions of assets from franchisees
Disposals and foreign currency changes, net
Impairments

$

3,377
—
(94)
—

$

2,997
—
12
—

Balance at end of period

$

3,283

$

3,009

Components of intangible assets were as follows as of July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014:
July 31, 2015
Weighted average
amortization period

Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
amount

(In thousands)

Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer lists acquired from unrelated third parties
Assets acquired from franchisees:
Customer lists
Reacquired rights
AD rights

4 years

$

4 years
2 years
10 years

$

707
518
16,505
$

Total intangible assets

1,027

18,757

(85)

$

(513)
(438)
(4,382)
$

(5,418)

942
194
80
12,123

$

13,339

April 30, 2015
Weighted average
amortization period

Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
amount

(In thousands)

Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer lists acquired from unrelated third parties
Assets acquired from franchisees:
Customer lists
Reacquired rights
AD rights

4 years

$

4 years
2 years
10 years

13

$

759
559
17,345
$

Total intangible assets

1,027

19,690

—

$

(441)
(473)
(4,104)
$

(5,018)

1,027
318
86
13,241

$

14,672

July 31, 2014
Weighted average
amortization period

Gross carrying
amount

Accumulated
amortization

Net carrying
amount

(In thousands)

Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer lists acquired from unrelated third parties
Assets acquired from franchisees:
Customer lists
Reacquired rights
AD rights

6 years

$

4 years
2 years
10 years

$

(1,356)

677
601
12,419
$

Total intangible assets

4,816

18,513

$

3,460

(442)
(392)
(3,537)
$

(5,727)

235
209
8,882
$

12,786

During the three months ended July 31, 2015, the Company acquired the assets of various Canadian franchisees for $10 thousand. During the three
months ended July 31, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of U.S. and Canadian franchisees for $235 thousand. These acquisitions were accounted for as
business combinations, with all value allocated to intangible assets. The purchase price of assets acquired from franchisees during the three months ended
July 31, 2015 and 2014 was allocated as follows:
Three Months Ended July 31,
2015

2014
(In thousands)

Customer lists and reacquired rights
Goodwill
Total

$

10
—

$

235
—

$

10

$

235

(4) Assets Held For Sale
At the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and 2015, assets acquired from U.S. franchisees were classified as assets held for sale. During the three
months ended July 31, 2015 the Company acquired $2.0 million in assets from U.S. franchisees that were first accounted for as business combinations, with
the value allocated to customer lists and reacquired rights of $0.9 million and goodwill of $1.1 million prior to being recorded as assets held for sale. During
the three months ended July 31, 2014, the Company acquired $1.7 million in assets from U.S. franchisees and third parties that were first accounted for as
business combinations, with the value allocated to customer lists and reacquired rights of $0.9 million and goodwill of $0.8 million prior to being recorded
as assets held for sale. The acquired businesses are operated as Company-owned offices until a buyer is located and a new franchise agreement is entered into.
Changes in the carrying amount of assets held for sale for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:
Three Months Ended July 31,
2015

2014
(In thousands)

Balance at beginning of period
Reacquired
Dispositions

$

5,160
2,001
(804)

$

4,413
1,682
(670)

Balance at end of period

$

6,357

$

5,425
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(5) Debt
In October 2014, the Company amended its credit facility. The amended credit facility consists of a $21.2 million term loan and a revolving credit
facility that currently allows borrowing of up to $203.8 million with an accordion feature that permits the Company to request an increase in availability of
up to an additional $50.0 million. Outstanding borrowings accrue interest which is paid monthly at a rate of the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate
("LIBOR") plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.25% depending on the Company’s leverage ratio. At July 31, 2015 and 2014, the interest rate was 1.81%
and 1.78%, respectively and the average interest rate paid during the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 was 1.81% and 1.78%, respectively. The
indebtedness is collateralized by substantially all the assets of the Company and both loans mature on April 30, 2019 (except as to the commitments of one
lender under the revolving credit facility, which mature on September 30, 2017). The credit facility contains certain financial covenants that the Company
must meet, including leverage and fixed-charge coverage ratios as well as minimum net worth requirements. In addition, the Company must reduce the
outstanding balance under its revolving loan to zero for a period of at least 45 consecutive days each fiscal year. The Company was in compliance with the
financial covenants at July 31, 2015.
Debt at July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015, and July 31, 2014 consisted of the following:
July 31, 2015

April 30, 2015

July 31, 2014

(In thousands)

Credit Facility:
Revolver
Term loan

$

16,556
20,187

Amounts due to former ADs and mortgages
Less: current portion
Long-term debt

$

$

—
20,453

$

13,822
21,250

36,743
2,629

20,453
4,944

35,072
2,895

39,372
(1,958)

25,397
(3,934)

37,967
(3,042)

37,414

$

21,463

$

34,925

(6) Income Taxes
The Company computes its provision for or benefit from income taxes by applying the estimated annual effective tax rate to income or loss from
recurring operations and adding the effects of any discrete income tax items specific to the period.
(7) Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholders' Equity Activity
During the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, activity in stockholders’ equity was as follows:
Three Months Ended July 31,
2015

2014

(in thousands, except for share amounts)

Class A common shares issued from the exercise of stock options
Class A common shares issued from the vesting of restricted stock and as Board of Directors compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Stock-based compensation expense
Class A common shares repurchased
Payments for repurchased shares
Tax benefit of stock option exercises
Dividends paid
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$
$
$
$
$

17,710
5,324
279
465
51,609
1,272
495
2,212

$
$
$
$
$

283,115
—
4,543
687
881,172
22,620
3,509
—

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of foreign currency adjustments of $(1.5) million, $(0.7) million and $0.2 million at
July 31, 2015, April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014, respectively.
Net Income (Loss) per Share
Net income (loss) per share of Class A and Class B common stock is computed using the two-class method. Basic net income (loss) per share is
computed by allocating undistributed earnings to common shares and participating securities (exchangeable shares) and using the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the period. Undistributed losses are not allocated to participating securities because they do not meet the required
criteria for such allocation.
Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares and, if dilutive, the potential common shares
outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock units. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units is reflected in diluted earnings per share by application of the
treasury stock method. Additionally, the computation of the diluted net income (loss) per share of Class A common stock assumes the conversion of Class B
common stock and exchangeable shares, if dilutive, while the diluted net loss per share of Class B common stock does not assume conversion of those shares.
The rights, including liquidation and dividend rights, of the holders of Class A and Class B common stock are identical, with the exception of the
election of directors. As a result, the undistributed earnings for each year are allocated based on the contractual participation rights of the Class A and Class B
common stock as if the earnings for the year had been distributed. Participating securities have dividend rights that are identical to Class A and Class B
common stock.
The computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Three Months Ended
July 31, 2015
Class A

Class B

Common Stock

Common Stock

(in thousands, except for share and per
share amounts)

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
Numerator
Allocation of undistributed losses
Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

$

Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

(7,936)

$

11,911,621
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(0.67)

(600)
900,000

$

(0.67)

Three Months Ended
July 31, 2014
Class A

Class B

Common Stock

Common Stock

(in thousands, except for share and per
share amounts)

Basic and diluted net loss per share:
Numerator
Allocation of undistributed losses
Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

$

Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

(8,039)

$

(605)

11,967,273
(0.67)

900,000
$

(0.67)

As a result of the net losses for the periods, diluted net loss per share excludes the impact of shares of potential common stock from the exercise of
options to purchase 983,768 and 1,238,655 shares for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, because the effect would be antidilutive.
(8) Stock Compensation Plans
Stock Options
In August 2011, the Board of Directors approved an equity and cash incentive plan. Employees and outside directors are eligible to receive awards
and a total of 2,500,000 shares of Class A common stock were authorized for grant under the plan. At July 31, 2015, 1,584,129 shares of Class A common
stock remain available for grant. There were no options granted during the three months ended July 31, 2015.
Stock option activity during the three months ended July 31, 2015 was as follows:
Weighted
average
exercise price

Number of
options

Balance at beginning of period

1,343,559
—
(17,710)
(123,490)

Granted
Exercised
Expired or forfeited
Balance at end of period

$

1,202,359

19.28
—
15.73
22.61
18.99

Intrinsic value is defined as the market value of the stock less the cost to exercise. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three
months ended July 31, 2015 was $0.1 million. The total intrinsic value of stock options outstanding at July 31, 2015 was $9.5 million. Stock options vest
from six months to five years from the date of grant and expire from four to five years after the vesting date.
Nonvested stock options (options that had not vested in the period reported) activity during the three months ended July 31, 2015 was as follows:
Weighted
average
exercise price

Nonvested
options

Balance at beginning of period

385,416
—
(25,000)
(50,000)

Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Balance at end of period

310,416
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$

27.56
—
33.79
33.79
26.06

At July 31, 2015, unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested stock options were $2.0 million. These costs are expected to be recognized
through fiscal 2021.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at July 31, 2015:
Options Outstanding
Number of shares
outstanding

Range of exercise prices

$10.50
15.00
16.38 - 19.75
26.18 - 29.48
33.38 - 33.79

$

12,500
621,207
273,236
205,000
90,416
1,202,359

Options Exercisable
Weighted average
remaining contractual life
(in years)

Weighted average
exercise price

$

10.50
15.00
17.91
26.66
33.49

Number of options
exercisable

0.7
2.2
4.3
6.4
6.3

Weighted average
exercise price

12,500
621,207
198,236
35,000
25,000

$

891,943

18.99

10.50
15.00
17.85
26.18
33.79
16.54

Restricted Stock Units
There were no restricted stock units granted during the three months ended July 31, 2015. Restricted stock activity during the three months ended
July 31, 2015 was as follows:
Weighted
average fair value at grant
date

Number of
RSUs

Balance at beginning of period

28,929
—
(4,678)
(1,883)

Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Balance at end of period

$

22,368

30.63
—
17.95
29.51
33.38

At July 31, 2015, unrecognized compensation costs related to restricted stock units were $0.5 million. These costs are expected to be recognized
through fiscal 2022.
(9) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis are classified according to a threetier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. Valuation methodologies for the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
•

Level 1 — Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.

•

Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that
are not active, and model-based valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in the market.

•

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore, requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

The Company measures or monitors certain of its assets and liabilities on a fair value basis. Fair value is used on a recurring basis for those assets and
liabilities for which fair value is the primary basis of accounting. Other assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, they
are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence of impairment. The following tables present, at July 31, 2015,
April 30, 2015 and July 31, 2014, for each of the fair value hierarchy levels, the assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring and
nonrecurring basis (in thousands):
18

July 31, 2015
Fair value measurements using
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Nonrecurring:
Impaired accounts and notes receivable
Total recurring and nonrecurring assets

$

13,728

$

—

$

—

$

13,728

$

13,728

$

—

$

—

$

13,728

April 30, 2015
Fair value measurements using
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Recurring:
Cash equivalents
Nonrecurring:

$

16,975

Impaired accounts and notes receivable
Impaired online software
Impaired acquired online customer lists
Impaired goodwill
Impaired reacquired rights
Impaired customer lists
Assets held for sale

16,975

11,961
1,253
1,027
224
79
126
5,160

Total nonrecurring assets
Total recurring and nonrecurring assets

$

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

19,830
$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

36,805

$

16,975

$

11,961
1,253
1,027
224
79
126
5,160

—
$

—

—

19,830
$

19,830

July 31, 2014
Fair value measurements using
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Assets:
Nonrecurring:
Impaired accounts and notes receivable
Total recurring and nonrecurring assets

$

6,217

$

—

$

—

$

6,217

$

6,217

$

—

$

—

$

6,217

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy on the date of the event or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer. There were no transfers into or out of level 1 or 2 requiring fair value measurements for each of the three months ended July 31, 2015 and
2014.
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of our financial instruments.
Cash equivalents: The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. Cash equivalent financial
instruments consist of money market accounts.
Impaired accounts and notes receivable: Accounts and notes receivable are considered to be impaired if the net amounts due exceed the fair value
of the underlying franchise or if management considers it probable that all principal and interest will not be collected when contractually due. In establishing
the estimated fair value of the underlying franchise, consideration is given to recent sales between franchisees, the net fees of open offices, and the number of
unopened offices.
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Impaired goodwill, reacquired rights, and customer lists: Goodwill, reacquired rights and customer lists associated with a Company-owned office
are considered to be impaired if the net carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the underlying office. In establishing the fair value of the underlying office,
consideration is given to the related net fees and marketplace transactions.
Assets held for sale: Assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of the carrying value or the sales price, less costs to sell, which approximates fair
value. The sales price is calculated as a percentage of prior year net fees and marketplace transactions.
Impaired online software and acquired online customer lists: The online software and acquired online customer lists are considered to be impaired
if the net carrying amount of these assets exceeds the fair value of these assets. The fair value of these assets was determined using a discounted cash flow
model.
Other Fair Value Measurements
Additionally, accounting standards require the disclosure of the estimated fair value of financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value. For
the financial instruments that the Company does not record at fair value, estimates of fair value are made at a point in time based on relevant market data and
information about the financial instrument. No readily available market exists for a significant portion of the Company's financial instruments. Fair value
estimates for these instruments are based on current economic conditions, interest rate risk characteristics, and other factors. Many of these estimates involve
uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and cannot be determined with precision. Therefore, the calculated fair value estimates in many instances
cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, may not be realizable in a current sale of the instrument. In addition,
changes in assumptions could significantly affect these fair value estimates. The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in
estimating fair value of these financial instruments.
Receivables other than notes, other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses, and due to ADs: The carrying amounts approximate
fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.
Notes receivable: The carrying amount approximates fair value because the interest rate charged by the Company on these notes approximates rates
currently offered by local lending institutions for loans of similar terms to individuals/entities with comparable credit risk (Level 3).
Long-term debt: The carrying amount approximates fair value because the interest rate paid has a variable component (Level 2).
(10) Related Party Transactions
The Company considers directors and their affiliated companies as well as executive officers and members of their immediate family to be related
parties. Although the Company did not have any stock transactions with related parties during the three months ended July 31, 2015, during the three months
ended July 31, 2014 the Company repurchased 880,248 shares of stock for a value of $22.3 million from related parties.
The Company has entered into a multi-year contract to purchase a license for the use of Canadian tax software at a price of $0.7 million from a
company in which it has an investment accounted for under the equity method. One of the members of the Company's Board of Directors is affiliated with the
company providing this service.
The Company has entered into an agreement to purchase the right to distribute cloud and mobile accounting solutions to its franchisees. Payments
of $250 thousand were paid for this service during fiscal 2015 and $32 thousand during the first quarter of 2016. One of the members of the Company's Board
of Directors is affiliated with the company providing this service.
(11) Commitments and Contingencies
In the ordinary course of operations, the Company may become a party to legal proceedings. Based upon information currently available,
management believes that such legal proceedings, in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition,
cash flows, or results of operations except as provided below.
ERC class action litigation. The Company was sued in November 2011 in federal courts in Arkansas, California, Florida, and Illinois, and additional
lawsuits were filed in federal courts in January 2012 in Maryland and North Carolina, in
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February 2012 in Wisconsin, and in May 2012 in New York and Minnesota. In April 2012, a motion to consolidate all of the then-pending cases before a
single judge in federal court in the Northern District of Illinois was granted, and in June 2012, the plaintiffs filed a new complaint in the consolidated action.
The consolidated complaint alleges that the Company's refund transfer products formerly called electronic refund checks ("ERC") represent a form of refund
anticipation loan ("RAL") because the taxpayer is "loaned" the tax preparation fee, and that the refund transfer product is, therefore, subject to federal truthin-lending disclosure and state law requirements regulating RALs. The plaintiffs also allege disclosure violations related to the ERC fees paid by RAL
customers. The plaintiffs, therefore, claim violations of state-specific RAL and other consumer statutes. The lawsuit purports to be a class action, and the
plaintiffs allege potential damages in excess of $5.0 million. The Company appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit a ruling
that certain of the plaintiffs’ claims were not subject to arbitration. Following mediation, the parties entered into a settlement agreement in June 2015
pursuant to which the Company will establish a settlement fund of $5.3 million, inclusive of settlement administration costs and plaintiffs’ counsel fees. The
parties are in the process of seeking the approval of the trial court, which must approve the settlement. The Company has preserved potential claims against a
financial product partner that was responsible for the design of a portion of the ERC programs in the years at issue in the cases. The Company previously
accrued the proposed settlement amount during fiscal 2015.
TCPA class action litigation. The Company was sued in September 2013 in federal court in Illinois in connection with alleged violations of the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act. Plaintiff alleges that the Company inappropriately made auto dialed telephone calls to cellular telephones, seeks the
certification of a nationwide class action, and claims statutory damages of $500-$1,500 per violation. The Company tendered the defense of this litigation to
a third party entity that had contracted with us to solicit potential franchisees, and that third party entity acknowledged its defense and indemnification
obligations to the Company. However, because the third party did not have the financial resources to satisfy its defense and indemnity obligations, the
Company concluded that it could not rely upon the fulfillment of those obligations. In September 2014, the Company and the plaintiffs reached a tentative
settlement of this litigation pursuant to which the Company will establish a settlement fund of $3.0 million, inclusive of settlement administration costs and
plaintiffs’ counsel fees. This settlement has received the preliminary approval of the court and notices to class members have been sent, but the settlement
remains subject to other conditions typical in a class action. The Company previously accrued the proposed settlement amount during fiscal 2015.
The Company is also party to claims and lawsuits that are considered to be ordinary, routine litigation incidental to the business, including claims
and lawsuits concerning the preparation of customers' income tax returns, the fees charged to customers for various products and services, relationships with
franchisees, intellectual property disputes, employment matters, and contract disputes. Although the Company cannot provide assurance that it will
ultimately prevail in each instance, it believes the amount, if any, it will be required to pay in the discharge of liabilities or settlements in these claims will
not have a material adverse impact on it's consolidated results of operations or financial position.
(12) Subsequent Event
On August 27, 2015, the Board of Directors approved a quarterly cash dividend to shareholders of $0.16 per share payable on October 22, 2015 to
holders of record of common stock and common stock equivalents on October 15, 2015.
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ITEM 2
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This quarterly report contains forward-looking statements concerning our business, operations, financial performance, and condition as well as our
plans, objectives, and expectations for our business operations and financial performance and condition. Any statements contained herein that are not of
historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. You can identify these statements by words such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,”
“believe,” “could,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” “positioned,” “should,” “target,” “will,”
“would” and other similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends. These forward-looking statements are based on
current expectations, estimates, forecasts, projections about our business and the industry in which we operate, and our management’s beliefs and
assumptions. They are not guarantees of future performance or development and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that are
in some cases beyond our control. As a result, any or all of our forward-looking statements in this quarterly report may turn out to be inaccurate. Factors that
may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the risks described under “Item 1A—Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 and risks described in all other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including:
•

our inability to sustain growth at our historical pace;

•

the seasonality of our business;

•

the continued service of our senior management team and our ability to attract additional talent;

•

our inability to secure reliable sources of the tax settlement products we make available to our customers;

•

government regulation and oversight, including the regulation of our tax settlement products such as refund transfers and loan settlement products;

•

government initiatives that simplify tax return preparation, improve the timing and efficiency of processing tax returns, limit payments to tax
preparers or decrease the number of tax returns filed or the size of the refunds;

•

government initiatives to pre-populate income tax returns;

•

the effect of regulation of the products and services that we offer, including changes in laws and regulations;

•

the possible characterization of refund transfers as a form of loan or extension of credit;

•

changes in the tax settlement products offered to our customers that make our services less attractive to customers or more costly to us;

•

our ability to maintain relationships with our tax settlement product service providers;

•

our ability and the ability of our franchisees to comply with legal and regulatory requirements;

•

failures by our franchisees and their employees to comply with their contractual obligations to us and with laws and regulations, to the extent these
failures affect our reputation or subject us to legal risk;

•

the ability of our franchisees to open new territories and operate them successfully;

•

the ability of our franchisees to generate sufficient revenue to repay their indebtedness to us;

•

our ability to manage Company-owned offices;

•

our exposure to litigation;
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•

our ability and our franchisees’ ability to protect customers’ personal information, including from a cyber-security incident;

•

the impact of identity-theft concerns on customer attitudes toward our services;

•

our ability to access the credit markets and satisfy our covenants to lenders;

•

challenges in deploying accurate tax software in a timely way each tax season;

•

delays in the commencement of the tax season attributable to Congressional action affecting tax matters and the resulting inability of federal and
state tax agencies to accept tax returns on a timely basis, or other changes that have the effect of delaying the tax refund cycle;

•

competition in the tax preparation market;

•

the effect of federal and state legislation that affects the demand for paid tax preparation, such as the Affordable Care Act and potential immigration
reform;

•

our reliance on technology systems, including the deployment of our internally developed LibPro software and electronic communications;

•

our ability to deploy our internally developed LibPro software in a timely manner and with all the features our customers require;

•

the impact of any acquisitions or dispositions, including our ability to integrate acquisitions and capitalize on their anticipated synergies; and

•

other factors, including the risk factors discussed in this quarterly report.

Potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these factors carefully in evaluating the forward-looking statements and are cautioned not
to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this quarterly report. Unless
required by law, we do not intend to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new information or future events or otherwise. A
potential investor or other vendor should, however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we will file from time to time with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") after the date of this quarterly report.
Overview
We are one of the leading providers of tax preparation services in the United States and Canada. As measured by both the number of returns prepared
and the number of retail offices, we believe we are the second largest retail preparer of individual tax returns in the United States and the second largest retail
preparer of individual tax returns in Canada. Our tax preparation services and related tax settlement products are offered primarily through franchised
locations, although we operate a limited number of Company-owned offices each tax season. All of the offices are operated under the Liberty Tax Service and
SiempreTax+ brands.
From 2001 through 2015, we grew our number of tax offices from 508 to 4,328. See Note 1 "Description of Business and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies" in the notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2015 for detail
of the U.S. office activity and the number of Canadian and Company-owned offices for the years ended April 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013.
Our revenue primarily consists of the following components:
•

Franchise Fees: Our standard franchise fee per territory is $40,000 and we offer our franchisees flexible structures and financing options for franchise
fees. Franchise fee revenue is recognized when our obligations to prepare the franchisee for operation are substantially complete and as cash is
received.

•

AD Fees: Our fees for AD areas vary based on our assessment of the revenue potential of each AD area and also depend on the performance of any
existing franchisees within the AD area being sold. Our ADs generally receive 50% of franchise fees, royalties, and a portion of the interest income
derived from territories located in their area. AD fees
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received are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the initial contract term of each AD agreement, which had historically been ten years,
with the cumulative amount of revenue recognized not to exceed the amount of cash received. We recently changed the term of new and renewal AD
contracts to six years.
•

Royalties: Our franchise agreement requires franchisees to pay us a base royalty typically equal to 14% of the franchisee's tax preparation revenue,
subject to certain specified minimums.

•

Advertising Fees: Our franchise agreement requires all franchisees to pay us an advertising fee of 5% of the franchisee's tax preparation revenue,
which we use primarily to fund collective advertising efforts.

•

Financial Products: We offer two types of tax settlement financial products: refund transfer products, which involve providing a means by which a
customer may receive his or her refund more quickly and conveniently, and refund-based loans. We earn fees from the sale of these financial
products.

•

Interest Income: We earn interest income from our franchisees and ADs related to both indebtedness for the unpaid portions of their franchise fees
and AD territory fees, and for other loans we extend to our franchisees related to the operation of their territories. For franchise fees and AD loans
upon which the underlying revenue has not been recognized, we recognize the interest income only to the extent of actual payment.

•

Tax Preparation Fees: We also earn tax preparation fees, net of discounts, directly from both the operation of Company-owned offices and providing
tax preparation services through our online tax return products.

For purposes of this section and throughout this quarterly report, all references to “fiscal 2016” and “fiscal 2015” refer to our fiscal years ending
April 30, 2016 and ended April 30, 2015, respectively, and corresponding references to fiscal quarters are references to quarters within those fiscal years. For
purposes of this section and throughout this quarterly report, all references to “year” or “years” are the respective fiscal year or years ended April 30 unless
otherwise noted in this quarterly report, and all references to “tax season” refer to the period between January 1 and April 30 of the referenced year.
Results of Operations
The table below shows results of operations for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014.
Three Months Ended July 31,
Change
2015

2014

$

%

(dollars in thousands)

Total revenue
Loss from operations
Net loss

$

7,523
(13,874)
(8,536)

$

7,839
(14,023)
(8,644)

$

(316)
149
108

(4)%
(1)%
(1)%

Revenue. The table below sets forth the components and changes in our revenue for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014.
Three Months Ended July 31,
Change
2015

2014

$

%

(dollars in thousands)

Franchise fees
AD fees
Royalties and advertising fees
Financial products
Interest income
Tax preparation fees, net of discounts
Other revenue
Total revenue
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$

608
1,604
1,745
308
2,006
623
629

$

704
1,825
1,694
457
2,194
515
450

$

(96)
(221)
51
(149)
(188)
108
179

(14)%
(12)%
3%
(33)%
(9)%
21 %
40 %

$

7,523

$

7,839

$

(316)

(4)%

Total revenue decreased by $0.3 million for the three months ended July 31, 2015. This was primarily due to $0.2 million decrease in AD fees,
because revenue from some of our 2005 sales has now been fully recognized over the ten year life of the original agreements. In addition, franchise fees and
interest income declined due to lower cash collections.
Operating expenses. The table below details the amounts and changes in our operating expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and
2014.
Three Months Ended July 31,
Change
2015

2014

$

%

(dollars in thousands)

Employee compensation and benefits
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
AD expense
Advertising expense
Depreciation, amortization, and impairment charges
Total operating expenses

$

8,633
7,759
726
2,609
1,670

$

8,415
7,525
741
2,882
2,299

$

218
234
(15)
(273)
(629)

3%
3%
(2)%
(9)%
(27)%

$

21,397

$

21,862

$

(465)

(2)%

Our total operating expenses decreased by $0.5 million for the three months ended July 31, 2015, compared to the three months ended July 31,
2014. Lower depreciation and amortization drove the decline and resulted primarily from the $8.4 million impairment of online software and acquired
customer lists recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015.
Income tax benefit. We recorded income tax benefits with effective rates of 40.3% and 39.7% during the three months ended July 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. Due to the seasonal nature of our business, we expect the losses we incur through the first eight months of a fiscal year will be more than
offset by the results of the last four months.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview of factors affecting our liquidity
Seasonality of cash flow. Our tax return preparation business is seasonal, and most of our revenues and cash flow are generated during the period
from late January through April 30. Following each tax season, from May 1 through late January of the following year, we rely significantly on excess
operating cash flow from the previous season, from cash payments made by franchisees and ADs who purchase new territories and areas prior to the next tax
season, and on the use of our credit facility to fund our operating expenses and invest in the future growth of our business. Our business has historically
generated a strong operating cash flow from operations on an annual basis. We devote a significant portion of our cash resources during the off season to
finance the working capital needs of our franchisees. We have also incurred significant expenditures in the development of our LibPro tax software and
anticipate spending approximately $4.8 million related to this project during fiscal 2016.
Credit facility. In October 2014, the Company amended its credit facility. The amended credit facility consists of a $21.2 million term loan and a
revolving credit facility that currently allows borrowing of up to $203.8 million with an accordion feature that permits the Company to request an increase in
availability of up to an additional $50.0 million. Outstanding borrowings accrue interest, which is paid monthly, at a rate of the one-month London Interbank
Offered Rate ("LIBOR") plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.25% depending on the Company's leverage ratio. At July 31, 2015 the interest rate was
1.81%. A commitment fee that varies from 0.25% to 0.50% depending on the Company's leverage ratio on the unused portion of the credit facility is paid
monthly. The indebtedness is collateralized by substantially all the assets of the Company and both loans mature on April 30, 2019 (except as to the
commitments of one lender under the revolving credit facility, which mature on September 30, 2017).
Effective September 2, 2015, we amended our credit facility to modify certain loan covenants and definitions to clarify the treatment of cash
dividends in the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio.
Under our credit facility, we are subject to a number of covenants that could potentially restrict how we carry out our business or that require us to
meet certain periodic tests in the form of financial covenants. The restrictions we consider to be material to our ongoing business include the following:
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•

We must satisfy a “leverage ratio” test that is based on our outstanding indebtedness at the end of each fiscal quarter,

•

We must satisfy a “fixed charge coverage ratio” test at the end of each fiscal quarter, and

•

We must reduce the outstanding balance under our revolving loan to zero for a period of at least 45 consecutive days each fiscal year.

In addition, were we to experience certain types of changes in control affecting Mr. Hewitt's continuing control of us, or certain changes to the
composition of our Board of Directors, we might become subject to an event of default under our credit facility, which could result in the acceleration of our
obligations under that facility.
Our credit facility also contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on indebtedness, limitations on liens and
negative pledges, limitations on investments, loans and acquisitions, limitations on mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, limitations on
sales of assets, limitations on certain restricted payments and limitations on transactions with affiliates, among others.
We were in compliance with our financial covenants as of July 31, 2015.
Franchisee lending and potential exposure to credit loss. A substantial portion of our cash flow during the year is utilized to provide funding to our
franchisees and ADs. At July 31, 2015, our total balance of loans to franchises and ADs for working capital and equipment loans, representing cash amounts
we had advanced to the franchisees and ADs, was $23.0 million. In addition, at that date, our franchisees and ADs together owed us $70.7 million, net of
unrecognized revenue of $38.7 million, for amounts representing the unpaid purchase price for franchise territories or areas comprising clusters of territories
and other amounts owed to us for royalties and other amounts for which our franchisees and ADs had outstanding payment obligations.
Our actual exposure to potential credit loss associated with franchisee loans is less than the aggregate amount of those loans because a significant
portion of those loans are to franchisees located within AD areas, where our AD is ultimately entitled to a substantial portion of the franchise fee and royalty
revenues represented by some of these loans. For this reason, the amount of indebtedness of franchisees to us is effectively offset in part by our related
payable obligation to ADs in respect of franchise fees and royalties. As of July 31, 2015, the total indebtedness of franchisees to us where the franchisee is
located in an AD area was $59.5 million, but $9.4 million of that indebtedness represents amounts ultimately payable to ADs as their share of franchise fees
and royalties.
Our franchisees make electronic return filings for their customers utilizing our facilities. Our franchise agreements allow us to obtain repayment of
amounts due to us from our franchisees through an electronic fee intercept program before our franchisees receive the net proceeds from tax preparation and
other fees they have charged to their customers on tax returns associated with tax settlement products. Therefore, we are able to minimize the nonpayment
risk associated with amounts outstanding from franchisees by obtaining direct electronic payment in the ordinary course throughout the tax season. Our
credit risk associated with amounts outstanding to ADs is also mitigated by our electronic fee intercept program, which enables us to obtain repayments of
amounts that would otherwise flow through to ADs as their share of franchise fee and royalty payments, to the extent of an AD's indebtedness to us.
The unpaid amounts owed to us from our franchisees and ADs are collateralized by the underlying franchise or area and, when the franchise or area
owner is an entity, are generally guaranteed by the related owners of the respective entity. Accordingly, to the extent a franchisee or AD does not satisfy its
payment obligations to us, we may repossess the underlying franchise or area in order to resell it in the future. At July 31, 2015, we had an investment in
impaired accounts and notes receivable and related interest receivable of approximately $16.0 million. We consider accounts and notes receivable to be
impaired if the amounts due exceed the fair value of the underlying franchise and estimate an allowance for doubtful accounts based on that excess. Amounts
due include the recorded value of the accounts and notes receivable reduced by the allowance for uncollected interest, amounts due to ADs for their portion
of franchisee receivables, any related unrecognized revenue and amounts owed to the franchisee or AD by us. In establishing the fair value of the underlying
franchise, we consider net fees of open territories and the number of unopened territories. At July 31, 2015, we have recorded an allowance for doubtful
accounts for impaired accounts and notes receivable of $6.6 million. There were no significant concentrations of credit risk with any individual franchisee or
AD as of July 31, 2015. We believe our allowance for doubtful accounts as of July 31, 2015 is adequate for our existing loss exposure. We closely monitor
the performance of our franchisees and ADs and will adjust our allowances as appropriate if we determine the existing allowances are inadequate to cover
estimated losses.
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Dividends. Until our dividend paid in April 2015, we had never declared or paid a cash dividend on our common stock. Although we have now
announced a $0.16 per share quarterly cash dividend and may continue to pay cash dividends in the future, the payment of dividends will be at the discretion
of our Board of Directors and will depend, among other things, on our earnings, capital requirements, and financial condition. Our ability to pay dividends
will also be subject to compliance with financial covenants that are contained in our credit facility and may be restricted by any future indebtedness that we
incur or issuances of preferred stock. In addition, applicable law requires our Board of Directors to determine that we have adequate surplus prior to the
declaration of dividends. We cannot provide an assurance that we will continue to pay dividends at any specific level or at all.
Sources and uses of cash
Operating activities. In the first three months of fiscal 2016, we used $7.3 million less cash in our operating activities compared to the first three
months of fiscal 2015 primarily due to lower tax payments.
Investing activities. In the first three months of fiscal 2016, we utilized $3.0 million more in cash for investing activities compared to the same
period in fiscal 2014. This increase is primarily due to a $4.5 million increase in cash used for operating loans issued to franchisees net of payments received
from franchisees. This item was partially offset by an increase in proceeds from sale of company-owned offices and AD rights.
Financing activities. In the first three months of fiscal 2016, we generated $16.5 million more cash from financing activities compared to the same
period of fiscal 2015, predominantly because we utilized $21.3 million less for common stock repurchases, net of proceeds from stock option exercises,
during 2015 than in 2016. This amount was partially offset by a quarterly dividend payment of $2.2 million in fiscal 2016. Prior to the fourth quarter of our
2015 fiscal year we had not paid a cash dividend. Further offsetting cash provided by financing activities was $3.0 million less in tax benefit of stock option
exercises.
Future cash needs and capital requirements
Operating cash flow needs. We believe our cash from operations and our current credit facility will be sufficient to support our cash flow needs for
the foreseeable future. At July 31, 2015, using the leverage ratio applicable under our loan covenants at the end of the quarter, our maximum unused
borrowing capacity was $92.5 million.
Our credit facility also contains a requirement that we reduce the balance of our revolving loan to zero for a period of at least 45 consecutive days
each fiscal year; however, because our term loan will remain outstanding during that 45 day period, and given our historic cash flow experience at the end of
and beginning of each fiscal year, we do not anticipate that the unavailability of our revolving loan during that 45 day period each fiscal year will adversely
affect our cash flow. As of June 14, 2015, we had maintained a zero balance on our revolver for the required 45 days and thus have already met the
requirement for fiscal 2016.
Several factors could affect our cash flow in future periods, including the following:
•

The extent to which we extend additional operating financing to our franchisees and ADs, beyond the levels of prior periods,

•

The extent and timing of remaining expenditures related to our LibPro tax software,

•

The cash flow effects of stock options exercises,

•

The extent to which we engage in stock repurchases,

•

Our ability to generate fee and other income related to tax settlement products in light of regulatory pressures on us and our business partners,

•

The extent to which we repurchase AD areas, which will involve the use of cash in the short-term, but improve cash receipts in future periods from
what would have been the AD's share of royalties and franchise fees,

•

The extent, if any, to which our Board of Directors elects to declare dividends on our common stock.
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Effect of our credit facility covenants on our future performance. Our credit facility, which matures on April 30, 2019, imposes several restrictive
covenants, including a covenant that requires us to maintain a "leverage ratio" of not more than 4.5:1 at the end of each fiscal quarter ending January 31 and
a ratio of not more than 3:1 at the end of each other fiscal quarter. The higher permitted leverage ratio at the end of the January 31 quarter reflects the fact that
as of that date, we have typically extended significant credit to our franchisees for working capital and other needs that is not reflected in revenue that we
receive from our franchisees until the period beginning in February each year. At July 31, 2015, our leverage ratio was 0.90:1.
We continue to be obligated under our credit facility to satisfy a fixed charge coverage ratio test which requires that ratio to be not less than 1.50:1
at the end of every fiscal quarter. At July 31, 2015, our fixed charge coverage ratio was 4.82:1.
We were in compliance with the ratio tests described in this section as of July 31, 2015. We expect to be able to manage our cash flow and our
operating activities in such a manner that we will continue to be able to satisfy our obligations under the credit facility for the remainder of the term of that
facility.
As noted above, although we are subject under our credit facility to a requirement that we reduce the balance of our revolving loan to zero for a
period of at least 45 consecutive days each fiscal year, we do not believe that requirement will affect our cash flow or future performance.
Non-GAAP Financial Information. We report our financial results in accordance with GAAP, however, we believe certain non-GAAP performance
measures and ratios used in managing the business may provide additional meaningful comparisons between current year results and prior periods.
Reconciliations to GAAP financial measures for the three months ended July 31, 2015 and 2014 are provided below. These non-GAAP measures should be
viewed in addition to, not as an alternative for, our reported GAAP results.
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For the three months ended July 31, 2015
Revenues

As Reported

21,397 $

Loss from
Operations

(13,874) $

EBITDA

(12,229) $

Pre tax Loss

(14,300) $

Net Loss (1)

(8,536) $

EPS

$

7,523 $

—

(413)

413

413

413

254

0.02

$

7,523 $

20,984 $

(13,461) $

(11,816) $

(13,887) $

(8,282) $

(0.65)

$

— $

(373) $

373 $

Adjustments:
Executive severance including
stock-based compensation
As Adjusted
Stock-based compensation
expense excluding severance
related expense

Expenses

(0.67)

373

For the three months ended July 31, 2014
Revenues

As Reported

21,862 $

Loss from
Operations

(14,023) $

EBITDA

(11,725) $

Pretax Loss

(14,325) $

Net Loss

(8,644) $

EPS

$

7,839 $

—

(483)

483

483

483

291

0.02

$

7,839 $

21,379 $

(13,540) $

(11,242) $

(13,842) $

(8,353) $

(0.65)

$

— $

(494) $

494 $

Adjustments:
Executive severance including
stock-based compensation
As Adjusted
Stock-based compensation
expense excluding severance
related expense

Expenses

(0.67)

494

(1) The non-GAAP tax rate of 38.5% used above excludes the income tax effects of the non-GAAP income before taxes adjustments described above and
is consistent with our average and forecasted tax rate.
Seasonality of Operations
Given the seasonal nature of the tax return preparation business, we have historically generated and expect to continue to generate most of our
revenues during the period from January 1 through April 30. For example, in fiscal 2015 we earned 29% of our revenues during our fiscal third quarter ended
January 31 and 90% of our revenues during the combined fiscal third and fourth quarters of 2015. We historically operate at a loss through the first eight
months of each fiscal year, during which we incur costs associated with preparing for the upcoming tax season.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
From time to time, we have been party to interest rate swap agreements. These swaps effectively changed the variable-rate of our credit facility into a
fixed rate credit facility. Our most current interest rate swap agreements expired in March 2013 and we were not a party to an interest rate swap agreement at
July 31, 2015. We may enter into interest rate swap agreements in the future if we determine that it is appropriate to hedge our interest rate risk.
We also enter into forward contracts to eliminate exposure related to foreign currency fluctuations in connection with the short-term advances we
make to our Canadian subsidiary in order to fund personal income tax refund discounting for our Canadian operations. At July 31, 2015, there were no
forward contracts outstanding, but we expect to enter into forward contracts in the future during the Canadian tax season.
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ITEM 3
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
There have been no material changes in our market risks from those reported at April 30, 2015 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 4
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, have
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of July 31,
2015. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of July 31, 2015, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective in providing reasonable assurance that information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported by our management on a
timely basis in order to comply with our disclosure obligations under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During our most recent fiscal quarter, there has not occurred any change in our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II
ITEM 1
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of operations, we may become a party to legal proceedings. Based upon information currently available, management believes
that such legal proceedings, in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations
except as provided below.
ERC class action litigation. We were sued in November 2011 in federal courts in Arkansas, California, Florida, and Illinois, and additional lawsuits
were filed in federal courts in January 2012 in Maryland and North Carolina, in February 2012 in Wisconsin, and in May 2012 in New York and Minnesota.
In April 2012, a motion to consolidate all of the then-pending cases before a single judge in federal court in the Northern District of Illinois was granted, and
in June 2012, the plaintiffs filed a new complaint in the consolidated action. The consolidated complaint alleges that our refund transfer products formerly
called electronic refund checks ("ERC") represent a form of refund anticipation loan ("RAL") because the taxpayer is "loaned" the tax preparation fee, and
that the refund transfer product is, therefore, subject to federal truth-in-lending disclosure and state law requirements regulating RALs. The plaintiffs also
allege disclosure violations related to the ERC fees paid by RAL customers. The plaintiffs, therefore, claim violations of state-specific RAL and other
consumer statutes. The lawsuit purports to be a class action, and the plaintiffs allege potential damages in excess of $5.0 million. We appealed to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit a ruling that certain of the plaintiffs’ claims were not subject to arbitration. Following mediation, the parties
entered into a settlement agreement in June 2015 pursuant to which we will establish a settlement fund of $5.3 million, inclusive of settlement administration
costs and plaintiffs’ counsel fees. The parties are in the process of seeking the approval of the trial court. We have preserved potential claims against a
financial product partner that was responsible for the design of a portion of our ERC programs in the years at issue in the cases. We have previously accrued
the proposed settlement amount in fiscal 2015.
TCPA class action litigation. We were sued in September 2013 in federal court in Illinois in connection with alleged violations of the Telephone
Consumer Protection Act. Plaintiff alleges that we inappropriately made auto dialed telephone calls to cellular telephones, seeks the certification of a
nationwide class action, and claims statutory damages of $500-$1,500 per violation. We tendered the defense of this litigation to a third party entity that had
contracted with us to solicit potential franchisees, and that third party entity acknowledged its defense and indemnification obligations to us. However,
because the third party did not have the financial resources to satisfy its defense and indemnity obligations, we concluded that we could not rely upon the
fulfillment of those obligations. In September 2014, the Company and the plaintiffs reached a tentative settlement of this litigation pursuant to which we will
establish a settlement fund of $3.0 million, inclusive of settlement administration costs and plaintiffs’ counsel fees. This settlement has received the
preliminary approval of the court and notices to class members have been sent, but the settlement remains subject to other conditions typical in a class action.
We have previously accrued the proposed settlement amount in fiscal 2015.
We are also party to claims and lawsuits that are considered to be ordinary, routine litigation incidental to the business, including claims and
lawsuits concerning the preparation of customers' income tax returns, the fees charged to customers for various products and services, relationships with
franchisees, intellectual property disputes, employment matters, and contract disputes. Although we cannot provide assurance that we will ultimately prevail
in each instance, we believe the amount, if any, we will be required to pay in the discharge of liabilities or settlements in these claims will not have a material
adverse impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position.
ITEM 1A
RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2015
filed on July 1, 2015.
ITEM 2
UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
There were no issuances of unregistered shares of our Class A Common Stock during the quarter ended July 31, 2015.
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PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS
Our Board of Directors has approved $10 million of authorizations for share repurchases. These authorizations have no specific expiration date and
cash proceeds from stock option exercises increase the amount of the authorizations. Shares repurchased from option exercises that are net-share settled by us
and shares repurchased in privately negotiated transactions are not considered share repurchases under these authorizations. During the three months ended
July 31, 2015, we repurchased shares as follows:

Period

Total number
of shares
purchased

May 1 through May 31, 2015
June 1 through June 30, 2015
July 1 through July 31, 2015

—
1,598
50,011

Total

51,609
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Average
price paid
per share

$

—
24.52
24.67

Total number of shares
purchased as part of
publicly announced
plan

—
—
50,000
50,000

Maximum value of
shares that may be
purchased under the
plan as of month end
(amounts in
thousands)

$

6,314
6,438
5,246

ITEM 5
OTHER INFORMATION
On September 2, 2015, Liberty Tax, Inc. we and our subsidiaries entered into a Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement
with and among the lenders party thereto and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent (the “Third Amendment”). The Third Amendment relates to, and was
entered into pursuant to, the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated as of April 30, 2012, as amended, with and among the lenders party thereto
and SunTrust Bank, as administrative agent (the “Credit Agreement”). The purpose of the Third Amendment was to provide for a modification of certain loan
covenants and definitions to make clear that the payment of cash dividends to our stockholders is permissible under the Credit Agreement, and will not be
included in calculations of our required fixed charge coverage ratio, provided that we are otherwise not in default under the Credit Agreement. A copy of the
Third Amendment is attached to this report as Exhibit 10.1.
ITEM 6
EXHIBITS
We have filed the following exhibits as part of this report:
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith

4.6

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Liberty Tax, Inc.

X

10.1

Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated
September 2, 2015

X

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

X

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

X

32.1(1)

Section 1350 Certification (Chief Executive Officer)

X

32.2(1)

Section 1350 Certification (Chief Financial Officer)

X

101.INS(2)

XBRL Instance Document

X

101.SCH(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

X

101.CAL(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

X

101.LAB(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

X

101.PRE(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

X

101.DEF(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

X

Incorporated by
Reference

(1) This exhibit is intended to be furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
(2) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not to be “filed” or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

JTH HOLDING INC.
(Registrant)

September 3, 2015

By:

/s/ John T. Hewitt
John T. Hewitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

September 3, 2015

By:

/s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Kathleen E. Donovan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith

4.6

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Liberty Tax, Inc.

X

10.1

Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated
September 2, 2015

X

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

X

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer

X

32.1(1)

Section 1350 Certification (Chief Executive Officer)

X

32.2(1)

Section 1350 Certification (Chief Financial Officer)

X

101.INS(2)

XBRL Instance Document

X

101.SCH(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

X

101.CAL(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

X

101.LAB(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

X

101.PRE(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

X

101.DEF(2)

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

X

Incorporated by
Reference

(1) This exhibit is intended to be furnished and shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
(2) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not to be “filed” or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under these sections.
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THIRD AMENDMENT TO
REVOLVING CREDIT AND TERM LOAN AGREEMENT
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO REVOLVING CREDIT AND TERM LOAN AGREEMENT, dated as of
September 2, 2015 (this “Amendment”), is made by and among LIBERTY TAX, INC. , a Delaware corporation, formerly known as
JTH HOLDING, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), SUNTRUST BANK, in its capacity as administrative agent (the
“Administrative Agent”) for the Lenders (as defined in the Credit Agreement defined below) and as issuing bank (the “Issuing Bank”)
and swingline lender (the “Swingline Lender”), the Lenders party hereto, JTH TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation (“JTH”), LTS
PROPERTIES, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“Properties” ) , LTS SOFTWARE INC. , a Virginia corporation
(“Software”), WEFILE INC., a Virginia corporation (“Wefile”), JTH FINANCIAL, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
(“JTH Financial”), JTH PROPERTIES 1632, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“1632”), SIEMPRETAX LLC, a
Virginia limited liability company, formerly known as HISPANIC TAX, LLC , a Virginia limited liability company (“Siempretax”),
JTH TAX OFFICE PROPERTIES, LLC , a Virginia limited liability company (“JTH Office”), ACA HEALTHQUEST, LLC , a
Virginia limited liability company (“ACA Healthquest”), JTH NEW VENTURES, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“JTH
New Ventures”), UNIFIED PARTNERS, LLC , a Virginia limited liability company (“Unified”), JTH COURT PLAZA, LLC, a
Virginia limited liability company (“JTH Court Plaza”), and JTH PUBLISHING, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“JTH
Publishing,” and together with JTH, Properties, Software, Wefile, JTH Financial, 1632, Siempretax, JTH Office, ACA Healthquest,
JTH New Ventures, Unified and JTH Court Plaza, collectively, the “ Subsidiary Loan Parties,” and together with the Borrower,
collectively, the “Loan Parties,” and individually, a “Loan Party”).
RECITALS:
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent are parties to the Revolving Credit and Term
Loan Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2012, as amended by the Waiver and Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan
Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2012, by and among Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, certain of the Lenders, and
the Administrative Agent, as amended by the Supplement and Joinder Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2012, by and among
Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, certain of the Lenders, and the Administrative Agent, as amended by the Waiver to
Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 8, 2013, by and among Borrower, the other Loan Parties party
thereto, certain of the Lenders, and the Administrative Agent, as amended by the Standstill Agreement dated as of August 6, 2013, by
and among Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, certain of the Lenders, and the Administrative Agent, as amended by the
Waiver to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated as of August 29, 2013, by and among Borrower, the other Loan Parties
party thereto, certain of the Lenders, and the Administrative Agent, as amended by the Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and
Term Loan Agreement dated as of October 3, 2014, by and among Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party
thereto, and the Administrative Agent, as amended by the Supplement and Joinder Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2014, by and
among the Borrower, the other Loan Parties, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent (as further amended,
supplemented, amended and restated or otherwise modified through the date hereof, the “Credit Agreement”). Capitalized terms
defined in the Credit Agreement and undefined herein shall have the same defined meanings when such terms are used in this
Amendment;
WHEREAS the Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders amend certain provisions of the
Credit Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set
forth, to amend certain provisions of the Credit Agreement as herein provided.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged), the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:
1.Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals to this Amendment are incorporated in and made a part of this Amendment to the
same extent and the same effect as if fully set forth herein.
2.
Amendments to the Credit Agreement. The Loan Parties, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agree that the Credit
Agreement is amended as follows:
(a) Clause (iii) of the first sentence of the definition of “Consolidated Fixed Charges” set forth in Section 1.1 of the Credit
Agreement is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
and (iii) Restricted Payments paid during such period, other than, without duplication and without any clause limiting
the effect of any other clause, (x) intercompany dividends and distributions by and among the Borrower and the
Subsidiaries, (y) repurchases of Capital Stock and dividends made and used for the purposes of repurchases of Capital

Stock, in each case, permitted by this Agreement and (z) cash dividends made by the Borrower to its shareholders on at
least a pro rata basis with any other shareholders, in each case, permitted by this Agreement.
(b) Clause (iv) of Section 7.5 of the Credit Agreement is amended to read in its entirety as follows:
and (iv) cash dividends and distributions paid on the common stock of the Borrower; provided, for the purpose of this
clause (iv) that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing at the time such dividend or distribution is
paid nor would occur after giving effect thereto.
(c) Except as specifically modified by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement are ratified and
confirmed by the parties hereto and remain in full force and effect.
(d) Each of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties, the Administrative Agent and each Lender agrees that, as of and after the
Third Amendment Effective Date (as hereinafter defined), each reference in the Loan Documents to the Credit Agreement shall be
deemed to be a reference to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.
3. Conditions to Effectiveness of this Amendment. This Amendment and the amendments contained herein shall become effective on
the date (the “Third Amendment Effective Date”) when each of the conditions set forth below shall have been fulfilled to the
satisfaction of the Administrative Agent:
(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Amendment, duly executed and delivered on behalf of
the Borrower, the other Loan Parties, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party hereto.
(b) No event shall have occurred and be continuing that constitutes an Event of Default, or that would constitute an Event of
Default but for the requirement that notice be given or that a period of time elapse, or both.
(c) All representations and warranties of the Borrower contained in the Credit Agreement, and all representations and
warranties of each other Loan Party in each Loan Document to which it is a party, shall be true and correct in all material respects (or,
if qualified by materiality, in all respects) at the Third Amendment Effective Date as if made on and as of such Third Amendment
Effective Date, except that (a) any representation or warranty relating to any financial statements shall be deemed to be applicable to
the financial statements most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Documents
and (b) each other representation or warranty expressly stated to be made as of the Closing Date shall not be deemed to have been
repeated as of any date other than the Closing Date.
(d) The Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent (1) certified copies of evidence of all corporate and
company actions taken by the Borrower and the other Loan Parties to authorize the execution and delivery of this Amendment,
(2) certified copies of any amendments to the articles or certificate of incorporation, formation or organization, bylaws, partnership
certificate or operating agreement of the Borrower and each other Loan Party since the date of the Credit Agreement or, as applicable,
the joinder of a Loan Party to the Loan Documents, (3) a certificate of incumbency for the officers or other authorized agents, members
or partners of the Borrower and each other Loan Party executing this Amendment and the other Loan Documents related hereto and
(4) such additional supporting documents as the Administrative Agent or counsel for the Administrative Agent reasonably may request.
(e) Intentionally deleted.
(f) Intentionally deleted.
(g) All documents delivered pursuant to this Amendment must be of form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent and its counsel, and all legal matters incident to this Amendment must be satisfactory to the Administrative Agent’s counsel.
(h) Payment by the Borrower in immediately available funds of the fees and expenses required to be paid by Section 11 of this
Amendment.
(i) Intentionally deleted.
4.
Amendment Only; No Novation; Modification of Loan Documents. Each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party
acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment only amends the terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents and
does not constitute a novation, and each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party ratifies and confirms the terms and provisions of,
and its obligations under, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents in all respects. Each of the Borrower and each other
Loan Party acknowledges and agrees that each reference in the Loan Documents to any particular Loan Document shall be deemed to
be a reference to such Loan Document as amended by this Amendment. To the extent of a conflict between the terms of any Loan
Document and the terms of this Amendment, the terms of this Amendment shall control.

5. Successors and Assigns. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Borrower, the other Loan Parties,
the Lenders and the Administrative Agent and their respective successors and assigns.
6.
No Further Amendments. Nothing in this Amendment or any prior amendment to the Loan Documents shall require the
Administrative Agent or any Lender to grant any further amendments to the terms of the Loan Documents. Each of the Borrower and
each other Loan Party acknowledges and agrees that there are no defenses, counterclaims or setoffs against any of their respective
obligations under the Loan Documents.
7. Representations and Warranties. Each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party represents and warrants that this Amendment has
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by it in accordance with resolutions adopted by its board of directors or comparable
managing body. All other representations and warranties made by the Borrower and each other Loan Party in the Loan Documents are
incorporated by reference in this Amendment and are deemed to have been repeated as of the date of this Amendment with the same
force and effect as if set forth in this Amendment, except that (a) any representation or warranty relating to any financial statements
shall be deemed to be applicable to the financial statements most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent in accordance with the
provisions of the Loan Documents and (b) each other representation or warranty expressly stated to be made as of the Closing Date
shall not be deemed to have been repeated as of any date other than the Closing Date. Each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party
represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and the Issuing Bank that, after giving effect to the terms of this
Amendment, no Default has occurred and been continuing.
8. No Implied Waivers. Each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party acknowledges and agrees that the amendments contained
herein shall not constitute a waiver, express or implied, of any Default, Event of Default, covenant, term or provision of the Credit
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, nor shall they create any obligation, express or implied, on the part of the
Administrative Agent or any other Lender to waive, or to consent to any amendment of, any existing or future Default, Event of
Default or violation of any covenant, term or provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. The
Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall be entitled to require strict compliance by the Borrower and the other Loan Parties with the
Credit Agreement and each of the other Loan Documents, and nothing herein shall be deemed to establish a course of action or a
course of dealing with respect to requests by the Borrower or any other Loan Party for waivers or amendments of any Default, Event
of Default, covenant, term or provision of the Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents.
9. Confirmation of Lien. Each of the Borrower and each other Loan Party hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Collateral is and
shall remain in all respects subject to the lien, charge and encumbrance of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents and
nothing herein contained, and nothing done pursuant hereto, shall adversely affect or be construed to adversely affect the lien, charge
or encumbrance of, or conveyance effected by the Loans or the priority thereof over other liens, charges, encumbrances or
conveyances.
10. Ratification. The terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall remain in full force and effect and are
ratified and affirmed by the Borrower and each other Loan Party.
11. Fees and Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay all out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Administrative Agent and its
Affiliates, including the fees, charges and disbursements of counsel for the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, in connection with
the preparation and administration of this Amendment.
12. Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such illegality, invalidity or unenforceability without affecting the legality, validity or
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of a particular provision in a
particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
13. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be construed in accordance with and be governed by the law (without giving effect to the
conflict of law principles thereof) of the Commonwealth of Virginia. THIS AMENDMENT WILL BE DEEMED TO BE A
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA.
14. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the parties to this Amendment on any number of separate
counterparts (including by telecopy), and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same
instrument. It shall not be necessary that the signature of, or on behalf of, each party, or that the signatures of the persons required to
bind any party, appear on more than one counterpart.
15. Intentionally Deleted.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed by their respective
duly authorized representatives all as of the day and year first above written.
BORROWER:
LIBERTY TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, formerly known as JTH HOLDING, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer

SUBSIDIARY LOAN PARTIES:
JTH TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
LTS PROPERTIES, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: JTH TAX, INC., its Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
LTS SOFTWARE INC., a Virginia corporation
By: /s/ Kathleen Curry
Name: Kathleen Curry
Title: President
WEFILE INC., a Virginia corporation
By: /s/ Kathleen Curry
Name: Kathleen Curry
Title: President

JTH FINANCIAL, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer

JTH PROPERTIES 1632, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: JTH FINANCIAL, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, Manager

By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
SIEMPRETAX LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, formerly known as HISPANIC
TAX, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: LIBERTY TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
JTH TAX OFFICE PROPERTIES, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: LIBERTY TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
ACA HEALTHQUEST, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: LIBERTY TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer

JTH NEW VENTURES, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: JTH FINANCIAL, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
UNIFIED PARTNERS, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: ACA HEALTHQUEST, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, Manager
By: LIBERTY TAX, INC., a Delaware corporation, Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
JTH COURT PLAZA, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: JTH TAX, INC., its Manager

By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
JTH PUBLISHING, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
By: JTH TAX, INC., its Manager
By: /s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Name: Kathleen E. Donovan
Title: Chief Financial Officer
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:
SUNTRUST BANK
as Administrative Agent, as Issuing Bank and as Swingline Lender
By: /s/ David Bennett
Name: David Bennett
Title: Director

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
LENDERS:
SUNTRUST BANK, as Lender
By: /s/ David Bennett
Name: David Bennett
Title: Director
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
CITIZENS BANK OF PENNSYLVANIA, as Lender
By: /s/ Tracy Van Riper
Name: Tracy Van Riper
Title: Senior Vice President
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Lender
By: /s/ Peter Strauss
Name: Peter Strauss
Title: Senior Vice President

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
BRANCH BANKING AND TRUST COMPANY, as Lender
By: /s/ Jack M. Frost
Name: Jack M. Frost
Title: Senior Vice President
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

FIRST TENNESSEE BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Lender
By: /s/ Keith A. Sherman
Name: Keith A. Sherman
Title: Senior Vice President
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
BMO HARRIS FINANCING, INC., as Lender
By: /s/ Joan Spiotto Murphy
Name: Joan Spiotto Murphy
Title: Director

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

FIFTH THIRD BANK, as Lender
By: /s/ Robert Y. Bennett
Name: Robert Y. Bennett
Title: Senior Vice President
[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

SYNOVUS BANK, as Lender
By: /s/ Matthew McKee
Name: Mathew McKee
Title: Corporate Banker

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Lender
By: /s/ Michael Gloviak
Name: Michael Gloviak
Title: Assistant Vice President
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Exhibit 31.1
I, John T. Hewitt, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of LIBERTY TAX, INC.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
September 3, 2015 By:

/s/ John T. Hewitt
John T. Hewitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
I, Kathleen E. Donovan, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of LIBERTY TAX, INC.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal controls over financial reporting, or caused such internal controls over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
September 3, 2015 By:

/s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Kathleen E. Donovan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Liberty Tax, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, John T. Hewitt, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
September 3, 2015 By:

/s/ John T. Hewitt
John T. Hewitt
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board (Principal
Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Liberty Tax, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2015 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kathleen E. Donovan, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
September 3, 2015 By:

/s/ Kathleen E. Donovan
Kathleen E. Donovan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

